Redon v. San Diego, County of, CA et al
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

JASON A. REDON,

Plaintiff,
VS.

SAN DIEGO COUNTY, CITY OF
SAN DIEGO, ANDRES RUIZ,
BRANDON JORDAN, DEREK
MILLER, SGT BULKOWSKI, SGT D
GRUBBS, OFFICER GIBSON,
OFFICER POTTIN, OFFICER
NATAL, OFFICER JOHN DOES 1-X
WILLIAM LANSDOWNE, JAN
GOLDSMITH, MICHAEL LEE
FICKEN, MIRIAM MILSTEIN,
DIANA DOHERTY, JOHN DOES 2-
X, SGT SHAW, UNNAMED SAN
DIEGO POLICE OFFICER,

Defendants

HAYES, Judge:

The matter before the Court is the fibm to Dismiss filed by Defendants City

CASE NO. 13¢cv1765 WQH
(KSC)

ORDER

Doc. 23

of San Diego, City Attorney Jan Galahith, Andres Ruiz, Brandon Jordan, Defek

Miller, and Miriam Milstein. (ECF No. 11).

BACKGROUND
Plaintiff Jason A. Redon (“Plaintiff”) commenced this action by filing a

complaint in the San Diego Superior Coalleging state and federal constitutiopal
violations. (ECF No. 1-2 at 1). Qhugust 27, 2012, Plaintiff filed an amended
complaint to recover mon@amages and injunctive relief (“first amended complaint”)
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in the San Diego Superioro@rt. (ECF No. 1-2 at 2). On January 8, 2013, Plai
served the first amended complaimdasummons on Defendant San Diego Pg
Department. (ECF No. 1-2 at 12).

On July 5, 2013, Plaintiff seed the second amended compldiot violation of
civil rights and other wrongs on Defendant Gityorney of San Diego. (ECF No. 1-3

Plaintiff's second amended complamiteged that “[oh May 3rd, 2011 ang
August 19, 2011, the plaintiff was subjectedunnecessary and excessive force
various defendant police officers, includugwarranted, indiscriminate and excess
application of pain compliance holdsarotid restraints and Taser&d’ at 1. The
second amended complaint gkbel that “[P]laintiff wasnjured from improper use ¢
force, including but not limited to the useTdser causing chest pain, carotid restr

ntiff
lice

|-

ive

f
Aaint

causing neck pain and pain complianeehhiques resulting in permanent ligament

damage to finger.ld. The second amended complaint alleged that Defendant
pursuant to an official unconstitutional policy of the County of San Dietb.at 2.

acte

The second amended complaint set forth the following causes of action ag

inst

Defendants: (1) violation of First and&teenth Amendments to the United States
Constitution under 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1983; (2)olation of Fourth and Fourteenth

Amendments to the United States Gidanson under 42 U.S.C. § 1983; (3) violatio

of the Eighth Amendment and Fourteenthé&xrdment to the United States Constitutj

S

[on

under 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1983; (4) denial of Califiar constitutional rights; (5) assault and

battery; (6) false arrest afase imprisonment; (7) Cal. Civil Code Section 51.7;
Cal. Civil Code Section 52.1; (9) Cal. Cidbde Section 49; (10) Cal. Civil Code &
(11) intentional infliction of emotinal distress; (12) negligence; (13
defamation/slander; (14) abuse of process; and (15) conspitdcgt 5-8.

On July 29, 2013, Defendants filed a metiof removal of civil action in thi
Court. (ECF No. 1). On August 8, 20I3efendant Jan Goldsmith filed a motion

27 2011T3he second amended complaint appednave been filed in state court on J¢
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dismiss and motion for more definiteatment. (ECF No. 2). On August 14, 20
Plaintiff filed a motion opposing notice ofmeval of civil action. (ECF No. 4). O

13,

n

August 28, 2013, Plaintiff filed a respons@posing the motion to dismiss. (ECF No.

6). On November 8, 2013, this Court denied Plaintiff's motion opposing noti

removal of civil action, granted Defendant'stion to dismiss, and granted Plaing

leave to amend. (ECF No. 7). The Caamcluded that the second amended comp
failed to reference any specific policy mnactice, failed to ientify any conduct by
specific defendant, and failed to allegay facts showing compliance with t
presentation requirement of the California Tort Claims Adt.at 6.

ce of
iff

laint

A

ne

On December 23, 2013, Plaintiff filech amended complaint (“third amended

complaint”) which is the operative pleadin&CF No. 8). In the first six causes
actions of the third amended complaiBtaintiff alleges the following civil right:
violations pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983: (1) violations of First, Fourth, Fifth,
Eighth and Fourteenth Amendmentsti® United States Constitution (styled

of

U7

Sixth,

as

“general allegations”); (2) failure to imgrhent appropriate policies, customs, and

practices; (3) use of excessive force; (dgdarrest; (5) depriv@n of property without

due process of law; and (6) administration of cruel and unusual punishment. Rlainti

alleges in claim (7) violations of the Aaricans with Disabilities Act of 1990 pursuant

to 42 U.S.C. § 12181 The remaining allegations astate law claims including: (§)
false imprisonment; (9) negligence; (10) inggnt supervision; (11) conspiracy; (12)

conversion; (13) assault; (14) abuse of proqé&g;slander; (16) violation of Californ
Civil Code § 51.7; and (17) viaian California Civil Code § 52.1d. at 9-19.

On January 13, 2014, Defendants Cal San Diego, City Attorney Jan

Goldsmith, Andres Ruiz, Brandon Jordan, xekéller, and Miriam Milstein filed a
motion to dismiss for failure to state aich. (ECF No. 11). On February 11, 20

a

2 Defendants have not addsed the claim for violations of the Americans with
Disabilities Act in their motion to dismis$he Court does not rule on the sufficierncy

of this claim.
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Plaintiff filed a response in opposition to the motion to disri¢&CF No. 14). On

February 18, 2014, Defendant fila reply. (ECF No. 16).
CONTENTIONS OF THE PARTIES

Defendants contend that the third ame&hdemplaint fails to cure the defegts

giving rise to the dismissal of the secardended complaintDefendants assert th

the third amended complaidbes not allege compliancetkvthe claims presentatign

at

requirement of the California Tort Claims tAdDefendants contend that Plaintiff Has

not alleged sufficient facts to infer the drisce of the alleged policies or customs to

support a claim for municipal liability agairtbe City. Defendantsirther contend that
all claims against Defendants City Attornign Goldsmith and Miriam Milstein shou

be dismissed on the ground that they wdiieials performing prosecutorial function

d
S.

Plaintiff contends that he submittadetter on December 23, 2013 to the City of

San Diego in accordance with the Califoriiart Claims Act and that there was

requirement to file a right to sue letigith any government agency under Califor

No

nia

Civil Code 851.7. Plaintiff contends that he has met the threshold of plausibility by

alleging sufficient facts pertaining to the Officer’s actions including use of excegssive

force! Plaintiff asserts that his claims pertaining to a specific policy or procedure

adopted by the City will be further refim@nd narrowed through discovery. Plain

ftiff

further contends that City Attorney Miriam Milstein should not be granted prosecuytoria

immunity because Milstein was not a oy City Attorney over the course

Df

Plaintiff’'s criminal proceeding. Plaintiff contends that the role of City Attorney] Jan

Goldsmith is purely supervisory in nature and should be granted no immunity fron

liability for damages. (ECF No. 14).

® Plaintiff filed his response in oppten to the City Defendants’ Motion t

Dismiss as a “Motion Oppqsmg*_Demurrﬂda\/lotion for Dismissal.” (ECF No. 14
The Court considers Plaintiff's tiling to be an opposition brief.

O

* Defendants’ motion does not address the factual sufficiency of the glaim:

against Officers Jordan, Ruiz, and Natakigrgeneral allegationg3) use of excessivie

force, (4) false arrest, (5) deprivatiormbPerty_rlﬁhts without due process of law, and

&6) administration of cruel and unusual punishment in their motion to dismiss
ourt makes no ruling on the fedecdims against these Defendants.
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APPLICABLE STANDARD
Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure b{6), a pleading may be dismisse
it fails “to state a claim upon which relief clha granted.” A district court may dismi
a claim if the complaint (1) fails to seat “cognizable legal theory” or (2) lac
“sufficient facts alleged toupport a cognizable legal theoryavarro v. Block 250
F.3d 729, 732 (9th Cir. 2001) (internal quaia marks and citation omitted). “A clai
has facial plausibility when the plaintiffgads factual content that allows the cour
draw the reasonable inference that the midd@t is liable for th misconduct alleged
Ashcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009). “When reviewing a dismissal for fa
to state a claim pursuawtRule 12(b)(6) all allegations ofaterial fact are taken as tr
and construed in the light mdatvorable to the non-moving partyAlliedSignal, Inc.

v. City of Phoenix182 F.3d 692, 695 (9th Cir. 1999).
“The standard used to evaluate a motmdismiss is a liberal one, particula

M
t to

lure

Lie

ly

when the action has been filed pro $eey v. Board of Regenis73 F.2d 266, 268 (9

h

Cir. 1982). “However, a liberal interpretatioha civil rights complaint may not supply

essential elements of the claim that were not initially pled. Vague and conclusor

allegations of official participation imivil rights violations are not sufficient
withstand a motion to dismisdd. (finding complaint was properly dismissed wh
plaintiff's allegations “were not supported t@ference to any specific actions, practi
or policies” of the defendants).

1. State Law Claims—Counts (8)-(17)

Under the California Tort Claims Act, C&ov’'t Code 88 900 et seq., a plaint
may not file suit against a public entity uranvritten claim has first been presented
and rejected by, that entitilangold v. California Public Util. Comm;67 F.3d 1470
1477 (9th Cir. 1995). The written claim must be filed or presented to the public
no later than six months after the causaation accrues. Cal. Gov't Code § 911.2
the government claim is not presented witthi@ six-month time frame, an applicati
for leave to present a late claim may be submitted to the applicable entity with
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year after the accrual of the causeasotion. Cal. Gov't Code 8§ 911.4. “Where

compliance with the Torts Claims Act is rexpd, the plaintiff must allege complian

or circumstances excusing collmpce, or the complaint&ibject to general demurrey.

Mangold 67 F.3d at 1477 (9th Cir. 1995) (quotiSgipes v. City of Bakersfielil45
Cal.App.3d 861, 865 (1983)).

The third amended complaint fails ttege any facts showing compliance w
the California Torts Claims Aét.In his opposition, Plaintiff states that he submittg
letter to the City of San Diego in accordarwith the California Tort Claims Act G
December 23, 2013. However, even if alleged in the complaint, a letter s

December 23, 2013 would not show compliawith the California Tort Claims Act.

The third amended complaint alleges thaimlff was subjected to unnecessary i
excessive force on May 2011 and again on August 19, 2011, well over two y
prior to Plaintiff sending a letter to the CityseeCal. Gov't Code § 911.2 (writte
claim must be submitted within six months of the alleged injury).

Plaintiff also asserts that his sixteenthii for violation ofCal. Civ. Code § 51.
does not require compliance with the TdZisims Act. Plaintiff is incorrect.See
Castenada v. City of Napa, CdNo. C-95-4094 MHP,1996 WL 241818, at *6 (N.

Cal. May 3, 1996)claims under 8 51.7 must b&hausted pursuant to California

Government Code § 945.4). The Court fitlts the state law claims, counts (8)-(1
are time-barred.
2. Policy and Custom Claim—Count (2)
In order to state a claim under 42 U.SS€ction 1983, Plaintiff must show: th
(1) the conduct deprived the claimant of a constitutional right; and (2) the cc
complained of was committed byarson acting under color of laRarratt v. Taylor
451 U.S. 527,535 (1981). “Undeionell v. City Dept of Social Servs436 U.S. 658
690 (1978), a municipality is not liablerfdamages under gem 1983 unless actio

*Although it is not the Defendants’ burdenpobof at this stage of litigation, th
Defendants present a declaration stating tlese no record of Plaintiff presenting
claim for damages relating to this matter.
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pursuant to official municipal policy cdome nature caused a constitutional tc
Kirkpatrick v. City of Los Angeles803 F.2d 485, 491 (9th Cir. 1986) (inter
guotations omitted). Liability based on custom will be imposed upon a munici
after the plaintiff establishes one of the following three situations: (1) “show|
longstanding practice or custom which dinges the standard operating procedur
the local government entity”; (2) “showing that the decision-making official was

re.”
nal
pality
ng a
e of

as c

matter of state law, a final policymaking authority whose edicts or acts may fa

rly be

said to represent official policy in the area of the decision”; or (3) “showing that ar

official with final policy making authority eiér delegated that authority to, or ratified

the decision of, a subordinaté&Jirich v. City and County of San Francis®08 F.3d
968, 984-85 (9th Cir. 2002) (interngliotations and citations omitted).
When faced with a motion to disss, vague and colusory allegation

concerning official government involvementivil rights violations cannot overcome

a motion to dismisdvey v. Bd. of Regents of Univ. of Alas&@3 F.2d 266, 268 (9
Cir. 1982). The Court is also not obligedattcept as true allegations that are “me
conclusory, unwarranted deductionsfadt, or unreasoitée inferences.Sprewell v.
Golden State Warriot266 F.3d 979, 988 (9th Cir. 2001).

In this case, Plaintiff has failed to allefgets that show Defendants City of S
Diego and San Diego PoéicDepartment maintain specific policy causing |
constitutional injury. The allegations in the third amended complaint inc

h
rely

an
Nim

lude:

“unlawful policies”; “customs and habits of improper and inadequate hiring, training,

retention, discipline, andipervision”; and “policy or custom that condones unjusti

fied

use of force.” Plaintiff does not allegay facts to support his claim that unlawful

policies and customs led to labbeged injuries. The Coutbncludes that Plaintiff hg
failed to state facts sufficient to support a claim for municipal liability.

3. Prosecutorial Immunity
Officials performing prosecutorial functions are entitled to absolute imm
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from damages liability because their functismtegral to the judicial procedsbler
v. Pachtman424 U.S. 409, 424 (1976). Prosecutmes absolutely immune from st
for actions taken in their capacity as prosecuidaggy v. Spokane Cnty. Wa$94

F.3d 707, 710 (9th Cir. 2010). “A state prodting attorney enjoys absolute immurji

from liability under 8 1983 for his conduct joursuing a criminal prosecution insof
as his actions within his role as an advedat the State and his actions are intima
associated with the judicial pbeof the criminal proces<Cousins v. Lockyeb68 F.3d
1063, 1068 (9th Cir. 2009).

All allegations against Defendant Cittorney Jan Goldsmith and Miria

Milstein relate to their prosecutorial furmti or are too vague and conclusory to s

a plausible claim and are dismissefiee alsaCal. Gov’'t Code § 821.6 (A public

employee is not liable for injury caused ibgtituting or prosecuting any judicial

administrative proceeding within the scopé his employment, even if he ag¢

maliciously and without probable cause).
CONCLUSION

IT ISHEREBY ORDERED that Defendantisotion to dismiss (ECF No. 11)
GRANTED in part and denied in part tdlows: the State Law claims (8)-(17) a
dismissed; the policy and custom claim) (& dismissed; and all claims agail
Defendants City of San Dieg@jty Attorney Jan Goldsmittand Miriam Milstein are
dismissed.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that “Motin Opposing Demurrer and Motion f
Dismissal.” (ECF No. 14) is moot.
DATED: July 28, 2014

it 2. ,474,
WILLIAM Q. HAYES
United States District Judge
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